THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

H. STEVEN DEBERRY, IV CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

RECEIVED

MAY 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Dennis Maurice Temple

Appellant,

Vs.

State of South Carolina

Respondent,

Appellate Case No. 2024-001193

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Dennis M. Temple, # 274802  
Pro Se Appellant Defender

Tyger River Correctional Institution  
200 Prison Road  
Enoree, South Carolina 29335

*Dennis M. Temple*

TABLE OF CONTENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the clerk of court err by failing to Enter of Default in the appellant's case ?

Did the circuit court err by granting the respondent's motion to Dismiss appellant's state Habeas Corpus Action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1) of the SCRCP. When respondent did not timely file a Return to appellant's state Habras Corpus Action pursuant to Rule 12(a) of the SCRCP. As a result, appellant filed a motion for Entry for Default and Default Judgment ?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 10, 2023, appellant filed a state habeas Corpus Action in the Oconee County Court of Common Pleas pursuant to Rule 65(f)(1) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedures against the State of South Carolina; Director, Bryan Stirling; and warden Shane Jackson for placing and holding him incarcerated in prison in violation of appellant's 4th, 5th, 6th, 8th and 14th Amendment rights of the United States Constitution and South Carolina Constitution Article 1, sections 3, 12, 14 & 15 and South Carolina Statutory codes of laws.

Appellant sought to take advantage of the deprivation of Constitutional principles recognized after his trial, appeal and exhaustion of state post-Conviction Relief proceedings.

Appellant was bereaved of substantial and procedural constitutional rights and in the setting, constitute a denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the Universal sense of Justice.

Wherefore, the appellant moves the court for a writ of Habeas Corpus for an order directing the state of South Carolina; Director Bryan Stirling and Warden Shane Jackson to provide the appellant with a new trial; a new Preliminary hearing and/or release him from prison or/and such other and further relief in favor of the appellant as the court deems just and appropriate.

On July 24, 2023 appellant filed a Status Report with the Oconee County, clerk of court, stating that he was being prevented from serving his summonses, verified complaint, Notice of Motion and Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus as an indigent inmate on the respondent's attorney, Alan Wilson by Ms. Eastridge mailroom

personal at Lee Correctional Institution. Tr.

On July 28, 2023 appellant was finally allowed to mail three (3) copies of the summonses, verified Complaint, Motion for Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus and Notice of Motion to the respondent attorney, Alan Wilson. However, appellant did not receive a return green card back.

On August 9, 2023 the Richland County Sheriff's Department Officer P. Wilkes served the summonses, verified Complaint, Motion for Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus and Notice of Motion on Janee Mccrea, of the attorney General Office.

Also On August 9, 2023 appellant filed a Notice and Motion for leave to Amend verified Complaint with the Oconee County, clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton and served a copy on the respondent's attorney, Alan Wilson; the state of South Carolina, attorney General.

On August 25, 2023 appellant filed the original certified mail receipt with the Oconee County, clerk of court showing the Notice, Petition, summonses and verified Complaint was served on the respondent's attorney, Alan Wilson.

On August 28, 2023 appellant went to the mailroom at Tyger River Correctional Institution and mailed out (3) more summonses, verified Complaint, Motion for petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus and a notice of motion by certified mail and return receipt requested. To the attorney General, Alan Wilson.

On September 12, 2023 appellant filed the original certified mail receipt and the return green card and a copy with the Oconee County, clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton.

On September 14, 2023 appellant filed the original Affidavit of service from the Richland County Sheriff's Department with the Oconee County, clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton.

On September 25, 2023 the Oconee County, clerk of court Melissa C. Burton mailed a letter to appellant stating, " quote"

" The Oconee County, clerk office has received your letter and filing dated 9/20/2023. We are unable to process the notice of motion, motion for leave to Amend verified Complaint and certificate of service filings. These filings are being returned to you for your signature. Both copies you have provided have photocopied signature, please sign and return for filing.

On October 6, 2023 appellant filed a (second) Notice and Motion for leave to Amend verified Complaint with the Oconee County, clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton.

On October 18, 2023 appellant filed a notice of motion, Motion for Entry of Default and Default Judgment; an affidavit of Default; verified Statement; Exhibits A,B,C,E,F & G and a order entering default Judgment, with the Oconee County, clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton.

As a result, of some errors, on December 4, 2023 appellant filed a (second) Notice of Motion, Motion for entry of Default and Default Judgment, an Affidavit of Default, Verified Statement Exhibits A,B,C,E,F,G,H & I and a order entering default Judgment with the Oconee County, clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton.

On December 11, 2023 appellant received a clocked-in stamped copy of the (second) Notice of Motion, Motion for Entry of Default and Default Judgment, an Affidavit of Default, verified statement and Exhibits A,B,C,E,F,G,H, & I from the Oconee County, clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton. However, the order entering Default Judgment was not clocked-in and filed with the court. The clerk advised the appellant not to sign the order, which would be signed by the judge.

On March 8, 2024 respondent filed a return and Motion to Dismiss appellant's petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. Respondent submits that a state habeas Corpus petition must be filed in the original jurisdiction of the South Carolina Supreme Court and requests this action be summarily dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b) (1), SCRCF because this court lacks subject matter Jurisdiction, see. S.C. Const. art.v § 5 (" The supreme court shall have power to issue writ or orders of injunction, mandamus, quo warranto, prohibition, certiotari; habeas corpus, and other original and remedial writs.")(emphasis added); see also Simpson-v. State, 329 S.C.43 46n. 4. 495 S.E.2d 429, 431 n.4 (1998)(expressly reserving the ability to entertain writs of habeas corpus in the Supreme Court original Jurisdiction [ under article v. Section 5 of the South Carolina Constitution].)

On April 9, 2024 a hearing was held at the anderson County courthouse regarding appellant's petition for writ of Habeas Corpus and the state's attorney Talida Balaj motion to dismiss the petition before the presiding Judge H. Steven Deberry, Iv. Judge Deberry allowed the state to raise all of it's defense and claims, but denied appellant from raising claims and defense. Judge Deberry then granted the state's motion to Dismiss appellant's

Habeas Corpus petition pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1) of the SCRCP.

On May 17, 2024 Judge H. Steven Deberry, Iv. filed a Final Order of Dismissal in the Oconee County, Court of Common Pleas, the court granted respondent's motion to Dismiss and stated the petition is procedurally barred, leaving this court without jurisdiction.

On May 31, 2024 appellant filed a motion to Alter or Amend Judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedures requesting the court to alter or amend judgment in it's final order of dismissal, but failing to rule on all of the appellant's arguments, claims, defenses and raised issues.

On July 1, 2024 Judge Deberry filed a Order Denying appellant motion to Reconsider with the Oconee County, Court of Common pleas.

On July 22, 2024 the appellant filed a notice of Appeal in this case, and a Amended Notice of Appeal on August 9, 2024.

Appellant appealed. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

" The question of subject matter Jurisdiction is a question of law for the Court," Capital City Ins. Co. v. Bp staff. Inc., 382 S.C. 92, 99 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct. App. 2009). Thus, when reviewing the trial courts grant of a motion to Dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1), SCRPC this court is free to decide question of law with No deference to the trial court, Id (quoting Matthews ex rel. Estate of Matthews v. Matthews, (July 12, 2010) not Reported in S.E.2d 2010 WL 10080099

## ARGUMENT I

Did the clerk of court err by failing to Entry of Default in the appellant's case ?

On July 10, 2023 appellant a state prisoner at Lee Correctional Institution filed a Notice of Motion, a petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, (3) summonses and verified Complaint in the Oconee County Court of Common Pleas pursuant to Rule 65(f)(1) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedures against the State of South Carolina; Director Bryan Stirling and Warden, Shane Jackson for placing and holding him incarcerated in prison in violation of appellant 4th, 5th, 6th, 8th and 14th Amendment rights of the United States Constitution and South Carolina Constitution Article 1, sections 3, 12, 14, & 15, Common laws and S.C. Codes of laws. R.p. 1-38.

On July 24, 2023 appellant filed a **Status report** with the Oconee County, clerk of Court stating that he was being prevented from serving his summonses, verified Complaint, notice of Motion and petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus as a indigent inmate on the respondent's attorney, Alan Wilson by Ms. Eastridge mailroom personal at Lee Correctional Institution. R.p. 38-42.

On July 28, 2023 appellant was finally allowed to mail three (3) copies of the summonses, verified Complaint, Motion for petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus and Notice of Motion to the respondent attorney, Alan Wilson. However, appellant did not receive a return green card back. R.p. 51.

On August 9, 2023 the Richland County sheriff's department officer P. Wilkes served the summons, verified Complaint, Motion for Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus and Notice of Motion on Janee Mccrea, of the attorney General office. R.p. 57-60.

In addition, on August 9, 2023 appellant filed a notice and Motion for Leave to Amend verified Complaint with the Oconee Court clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton and served a copy on the respondent's attorney, Alan Wilson: the State of South Carolina attorney General. R.p. 43-49.

On August 25, 2023 appellant filed the original certified mail receipt with the Oconee County, clerk of court showing the Notice, Petition, summonses and verified Complaint was served on the respondent's attorney, Alan Wilson. R.p. 50-53.

On August 28, 2023 appellant went to the mailroom at Tyger River Correctional Institution and mailed out (3) more summons, verified Complaint, Motion for petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus and a Notice of Motion by certified mail and return receipt requested. To the attorney General, Alan Wilson.

The summons, included a statement informing the respondents that a default would be sought against them for the relief sought in the verified Complaint unless the respondents answered or respond within 30 days. R.p. 10-12.

On September 12, 2023 appellant filed the original certified mail receipt and the return green Card and a copy with the Oconee County, clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton. R.p. 54-56.

On September 14, 2023 appellant filed the original Affidavit of service from the Richland County Sheriff's Department with the Oconee County, clerk of court Melissa C. Burton. R.p. 57-60.

On September 25, 2023 the Oconee county, clerk of court Melissa C. Burton mailed a letter to appellant stating " quote" the Oconee County, clerk office has received your letter and filing dated 9/20/2023. We are unable to process the notice of motion, Motion for leave to Amend verified Complaint and certificate of service filings. These filings are being returned to you for your signature Both copies you have provided have photocopied signature, please sign and return for filing. R.p. 61.

On October 6, 2023 appellant filed a (second) Notice and Motion for leave to Amend verified Complaint with the Oconee County, clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton. R.p. 62-69.

On October 18, 2023 appellant filed a notice of Motion, Motion for Entry of default and Default Judgment; an affidavit of Default verified statement; Exhibits A,B,C,E,F&G and a order entering default Judgment, with the Oconee County, clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton. R.p. 70-79.

As a result, of some error, on December 4, 2023 appellant filed a (second) Notice of Motion, Motion for Entry of Default and Default Judgment, an Affidavit of Default, Verified Statement Exhibits A,B,C,E,F,G,H & I and a order entering default Judgment with the Oconee County, clerk of court, Melissa C. Burton. R.p. 80-90.

As of now, more than 6 months have elapsed since the service of the notice of motion, Motion for Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus, summons and verified Complaint and more than 15 days has passed as of serving the first and second motion for leave to Amend Verified Complaint.

The respondents has not answered, otherwise pled, or requested an extension of time in which to answer.

On December 11, 2023 appellant received a clocked-in stamped copy of the (second) Notice of Motion, Motion for Entry of Default and Default judgment, an Affidavit of Default, Verified Statement and Exhibits A,B,C,E,F,G,H,&I from the Oconee County, Clerk of Court, Melissa C. Burton. However, the order entering Default Judgment was not clocked-in and filed with the court. The clerk advised the appellant not to sign the order, which would be signed by the Judge.

On December 27, 2023 appellant filed a (new) order entering default Judgment with the Oconee County, clerk of Court, Melissa C. Burton. R.p. 91-92.

RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS

On March 8, 2024 respondent filed a return and Motion to dismiss appellant's petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. Respondent submits that a state habeas Corpus petition must be filed in the original jurisdiction of the South Carolina Supreme Court and requests this action be summarily dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1) SCRCP because this court lacks subject matter Jurisdiction. see. S.C. Const. art.v § 5 (" The supreme court shall have power to issue writ or orders of injunction, mandamus, quo warranto, prohibition, certiorari; habeas corpus, and other original and remedial writs.") (emphasis added); see also Simpson v. State, 329 S.C. 43 46 n. 4. 495 S.E.2d 429, 431n.4 (1998) (expressly reserving the ability to entertain writs of habeas corpus in the Supreme Court original Jurisdiction [under article v. Section 5 of the South Carolina Constitution].)

Moreover, " [a] person is procedurally barred from petitioning the circuit court for a writ of habeas corpus where the matter alleged is one which could have been raised in a Pcr application Keeler v. Mauney, 330 S.C. 568, 571,500 S.E.2d 123, 124 (ct.App. 1998); see. Al-shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354,365,527 S.E.2d 742 748 (2000) (explaining that any matter that is cognizable under the uniform Post Conviction Procedure Act, "must be raised in PCR application, and may not be raised by a petition for a writ of habeas corpus before the circuit or other lower courts.") The Uniform Post Conviction Procedure Act is " broadly inclusive and will rarely be inadequate or unavailable to test the legality of the detention." Gibson v. State, 329 S.C. 37,41,495 S.E.2d 426, 428 (1998). A petitioner may even allege constitutional violation in PCR proceedings unless the petitioner could have raised the

issue on direct appeal.Id.

" A habeas Corpus petition must support the requested relief Id. at 40, 495 S.E.2d at 427. Although the allegations in the petition are to be treated as true, the petitioner must make a prima facie case showing he is entitled to relief and present sufficient factual allegations to support the petition before he is entitled to a hearing. Id. at 40, 495 S.E.2d at 427-28. To warrant a hearing, the petition must include the two allegations described below. First, the petition must allege the petitioner has exhausted all available Post-Conviction Relief (PCR) remedies Simpson, 329 S.C. at 46, 495 S.E.2d at 431; Gibson, 329 S.C. at 42, 495 S.E.2d at 428." Exhaustion includes filing of an application, the rendering of an order adjudicating the issues, and petitioning for, or knowingly waiving, appellate review." Gibson 324 S.C. at 42, 495 S.E.2d at 428. Second, the petition must allege sufficient facts to show why other remedies. Such as PCR, are unavailable or inadequate. Id. PCR is not rendered " unavailable or inadequate " merely because the petitioner's application might be dismissed as procedurally barred. Furthermore, if a person is procedurally barred, his only means of obtaining state habeas corpus relief is to file a petition in the original Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court." Keeler, 330 S.C. at 571, 500 S.E. 2d at 124 (emphasis added).

Therefore, this petition must be dismissed because it is procedurally barred, leaving this court without Jurisdiction. Relief must be sought in the original Jurisdiction of the South Carolina Supreme Court or in a successive PCR application. Here, the petition fails to meet the standards required for the issuance of this extraordinary writ. The petition contains no allegations

that PCR remedies have been exhausted nor any factual justification why other remedies, such as PCR, were unavailable or inadequate to address his allegations. Petitioner could have and has raised these allegations in his prior PCR applications. Since the petition is procedurally barred, the only remaining form of relief is left to the South Carolina Supreme Court under it's original Jurisdiction, leaving this court without jurisdiction. The failure to properly file this action in the proper venue requires dismissal of this action for lack of Jurisdiction. Thus, these claims cannot be raised in a petition for habeas Corpus in the circuit courts of South Carolina.

#### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, Respondent moves to summarily dismiss the petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus because state habeas petition must be filed in the original Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of South Carolina. R.p. 95-106.

#### LAW/ ANALYSIS

A determination in this case requires an evaluation of Rule 65(f)(1); Rule 55(a)&(b) and Rule 12(a)&(b) of the SCRCR, South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedures regarding the requirements of a state Habeas Corpus petition; the entry of default and default judgment and when to serve the answer to a complaint " When interpreting a court rule, " We apply the same rules of construction used in interpreting statutes. Therefore, the words of [the rule] must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the rule." Green v. Lewis Truck Lines, Inc, 314 S.C. 303

304, 443 S.E.2d 906,907 (1994). When the language of a court rule is clear and unambiguous, the court is obligated to follow its plain and ordinary meaning.

SCRCP, Rule 65(f)(1)

Rule 65(f)(1) provides, Remedial Writs. No writ of mandamus habeas corpus, or other remedial writ shall be granted without notice of motion for the writ to the adverse party, which notice shall be served, together with the summons and complaint, in event no summons and complaint have previously been filed and served in the action, upon the adverse party in accordance with the provisions of Rules 4 and 5. Such notice and motion shall be supported by affidavit or verified complaint setting forth clearly the facts entitling the moving party to such writ. The motion shall be heard upon such notice as the court may prescribe, and the court shall proceed to hear and determine such motion as expeditiously as the ends of justice require. Unless a different time be prescribed by the court, the adverse party shall plead to the complaint and respond to such motion in the time prescribed by these rules for other civil actions.

SCRCP, Rule 55(a)&(b)(1)

Rule 55(a)(b)&(1) provides, (a) Entry. When a party against whom a judgment for affirmative relief is sought has failed to plead or otherwise defend as provided by these rules and that fact is made to appear by affidavit or otherwise, the clerk shall enter his default upon the calendar (file book).

(b) Judgment. Judgment by default may be entered as follows: