**RECEIVED**

**Aug 06 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Oconee County  
Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2024-001193

---

DENNIS M. TEMPLE, #274802,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TALIDA BALAJ  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 106523

South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. The circuit court properly dismissed Appellant's petition for habeas corpus that he improperly filed in the Oconee County Court of Common Pleas to challenge the constitutionality of his criminal convictions.**

On appeal, Appellant argues that the circuit court erred in granting the State's motion to dismiss his action, as the State failed to timely respond to his petition pursuant to Rule 12 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Specifically, he asserts that the Oconee County Clerk of Court failed to issue an entry of default against the State, and the circuit court should not have granted the State's motion to dismiss because of their failure to timely respond. However, Appellant's argument is based on an erroneous understanding of the Clerk's duty under Rule 55, SCRCF, and disregards the discretion of the circuit court to deny his motion to hold the State in default. Moreover, Appellant was required to file his petition in a successive post-conviction relief application or in the original jurisdiction of the South Carolina Supreme Court. As Appellant improperly filed his petition in the Oconee County Court of Common Pleas, the circuit court correctly determined it did not have jurisdiction to hear his petition and, therefore, the circuit court properly dismissed Appellant's petition.

Accordingly, the circuit court properly granted the State's motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, and Respondent respectfully requests this Court to affirm the circuit court's decision and dismiss this appeal.

**A. The circuit court properly rejected Appellant's attempts to hold the State in default for failing to file a return to his improper action within the thirty-day period set forth in Rule 12, SCRCF.**

Appellant avers that he was entitled to a default judgment against the State based on its failure to timely respond to his improperly filed petition for habeas corpus and argues that the clerk of court erroneously refused to issue a default judgment against the State. However, contrary to

Appellant's assertions, a clerk of court cannot hold the State in default, but rather, the clerk's ability to enter a default judgment against a party is a ministerial duty and not a substantive judgment on the merits. See Rule 55(a), SCRCP; Barnes v. State, 433 S.C. 399, 402, 859 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2021) (reminding clerks of court of ministerial duty, and prohibition on performing any action contingent on deciding question of law); 21 C.J.S. Courts § 335 ("Inasmuch as a clerk of court is essentially a ministerial officer, the clerk cannot, without express constitutional or statutory authority, exercise any discretionary judicial functions... It follows that a clerk of court cannot ordinarily determine questions of law, [or] render judgments..."). Therefore, the clerk of court committed no error in failing to enter judgment against the State, as it had no bearing on the merits of Appellant's case, and a hearing was convened where Appellant was present and he was able to present his arguments to the circuit court, which were swiftly and correctly rejected by the court.

Appellant also argues that the circuit court erred in denying his motion to hold the State in default for failing to timely respond. In Appellant's case, he argued before the circuit court that the State had failed to respond in a timely manner, and therefore, he was entitled to a default judgment against the State. (ROA pp. 115-19). Ultimately, the circuit court rejected Appellant's argument and granted the State's motion to dismiss the action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction without adjudicating Appellant's underlying claim on the merits. (ROA pp. 122-23). The circuit court properly rejected Appellant's arguments regarding default. Anderson v. Anderson, 299 S.C. 110, 115, 382 S.E.2d 897, 900 (1989) (dismissing without prejudice claims which the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over, as the subject matter was in the exclusive original jurisdiction of the probate court); Fielden vs. Fielden, 274 S.C. 219, 262 S.E.2d 43, 44 (1980) ("Lack of subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived and should be taken notice of by this Court on its own motion."); State v. Funderburk, 259 S.C. 256, 261, 191 S.E.2d 520, 522 (1972) ("We

think it elementary, with no need for citation of authority, that the acts of a court with respect to a matter as to which it has no jurisdiction are void.").

If the circuit court had granted Appellant's motion, the State would have been able to successfully argue that a default judgment cannot be entered against the State solely because the State failed to timely respond, as Appellant must also show that he would have prevailed on the underlying claims against the State. See Rule 55(e), SCRCP (Providing default judgment cannot be entered against the State, unless claimant establishes claim to relief by evidence satisfactory to the court). In Appellant's case, his sole argument that he was entitled to default against the State was that the State did not timely respond.

Therefore, Respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the circuit court's decision, as there was no error committed by the Oconee Clerk of Court in failing to make an entry of default on the calendar. Further, even if the circuit court had granted Appellant's motion, the ultimate result would have been the same: dismissal of Appellant's action.

**B. The circuit court properly dismissed Appellant's petition for habeas corpus, where Appellant's successive attempt to challenge his criminal convictions by way of a petition for habeas corpus was improperly filed in the Oconee County Court of Common Pleas following prior unsuccessful post-conviction relief actions in a clear attempt to circumvent the procedural bars set forth in the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedures Act (S. C. Code Ann. § 17-27-10 et seq.).**

Moreover, the circuit court properly dismissed Appellant's petition for habeas corpus, as the circuit court did not have jurisdiction over Appellant's action pursuant to Article V of the South Carolina Constitution and the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act, S. C. Code Ann. § 17-27-10 et seq.

"The Supreme Court shall have power to issue writs or orders of injunction, mandamus, quo warranto, prohibition, certiorari, habeas corpus, and other original and remedial writs." See

S.C. Const. art. V, § 5; see also Simpson v. State, 329 S.C. 43, 46 n.4, 495 S.E.2d 429, 431 n.4 (1998) (expressly reserving the ability to entertain writs of habeas corpus in the Supreme Court's original jurisdiction [under article V, section 5 of the South Carolina Constitution]).

Moreover, "[a] person is procedurally barred from petitioning the circuit court for a writ of habeas corpus where the matter alleged is one which could have been raised in a PCR application." Keeler v. Mauney, 330 S.C. 568, 571, 500 S.E.2d 123, 124 (Ct. App. 1998); see Al-Shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354, 365, 527 S.E.2d 742, 748 (2000) (explaining that any matter that is cognizable under the Uniform Post Conviction Procedure Act,<sup>4</sup> "must be raised in a PCR application, and may not be raised by a petition for a writ of habeas corpus before the circuit or other lower courts."). The Uniform Post Conviction Procedure Act is "broadly inclusive and will rarely be inadequate or unavailable to test the legality of the detention." Gibson v. State, 329 S.C. 37, 41, 495 S.E.2d 426, 428 (1998). A petitioner may even allege constitutional violations in post-conviction relief proceedings unless the petitioner could have raised the issue on direct appeal. Id.

"A habeas corpus petition must support the requested relief." Id. at 40, 495 S.E.2d at 427. Although the allegations in the petition are to be treated as true, the petitioner must make a *prima facie* case showing he is entitled to relief and present sufficient factual allegations to support the petition before he is entitled to a hearing. Id. at 40, 495 S.E.2d at 427–28. To warrant a hearing, the petition must include the two allegations described below. First, the petition must allege that the petitioner has exhausted all available post-conviction relief remedies. Simpson, 329 S.C. at 46, 495 S.E.2d at 431; Gibson, 329 S.C. at 42, 495 S.E.2d at 428. "Exhaustion includes filing of an application, the rendering of an order adjudicating the issues, and petitioning for, or knowingly waiving, appellate review." Gibson, 329 S.C. at 42, 495 S.E.2d at 428. Second, the petition must

---

<sup>4</sup> S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-27-10 to -120 (2014).

allege sufficient facts to show why other remedies, such as PCR, are unavailable or inadequate. Id. PCR is not rendered "unavailable or inadequate" merely because the petitioner's application might be dismissed as procedurally barred. Furthermore, if a person is procedurally barred, his only means of obtaining state habeas corpus relief is to file a petition in the original jurisdiction of the Supreme Court." Keeler, 330 S.C. at 571, 500 S.E.2d at 124 (emphasis added).

In Appellant's case, Appellant filed a Motion for Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus in Oconee County "pursuant to Rule 65(f)(1) against the State of South Carolina Director, Bryan Stirling, and Warden Shane Jackson for placing and holding him incarcerated..." (ROA p. 7). Pursuant to the South Carolina Constitution and the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act, Appellant was required to seek relief in the original jurisdiction of the South Carolina Supreme Court or by successive post-conviction relief application. In his petition, Appellant failed to allege sufficient facts to show why other remedies, such as post-conviction relief, were unavailable or inadequate—as required by Gibson. 329 S.C. at 42, 495 S.E.2d at 428. Further, the allegations Appellant raised in his Petition could have and have been raised in his prior post-conviction relief applications. As Appellant failed to show that he has exhausted all remedies for the circuit court to hear his petition, his petition is procedurally barred, and the only means of Appellant obtaining relief would have been to file his petition in the original jurisdiction of the Supreme Court.

Appellant does not directly challenge the circuit court's order that it lacked jurisdiction but instead contends that the circuit court erred in granting the State's motion based on the State's untimely response to his Petition pursuant to Rule 12(a), SCRCF. Appellant's petition was improperly filed, and rather than comply with the rules and file his petition appropriately, Appellant believes he can obtain his desired relief—i.e., have his conviction and sentence overturned—by voluminous filings repeatedly, and erroneously asserting he is entitled to a default

judgment against the State. Appellant is not entitled to circumvent the procedural bars placed by the Constitution and by statute, especially where Appellant relies on time requirements that are within the circuit court's discretion to affix.

Therefore, the circuit court properly determined that it did not have jurisdiction to hear Appellant's action. Therefore, Respondent respectfully requests this Court to affirm the lower court's ruling.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.